
COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date: Monday, 4th February, 2019

Time: 7.00 pm

Venue: Guildhall



2

COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 
Information for Members of the Public

Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 
to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face the 
Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled parking 
space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground floor, which 
can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility and you wish to 
attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance and we will make 
any necessary arrangements to assist your visit.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 
Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 
preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part II 
of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that 
the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to 
public inspection.

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report 
on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 
attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 
attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded and 
for any footage to be broadcast or published.  

Please note the Council audio records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are 
published on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted 
in the meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council 
he/she will be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to 
the Council’s website. The Chairman of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend 
recording, if in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if 
they consider that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any 
statutory provision.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 
for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last 
working day before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned 
below.

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 
papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 
film, video or sound recording please contact the Lead Officer, Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 
Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct line); E-
Mail Address:  committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk.

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 
minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information.

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 
electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 
worcester.gov.uk

mailto:committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk


3

Communities Committee
Monday, 4 February 2019

Members of the Committee:-

Chairman: Councillor James Stanley (C)
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Lynn Denham (L)

Councillor Alan Amos (C)
Councillor Tracey Biggs (L)
Councillor Chris Cawthorne (L)
Councillor Tom Collins (L)
Councillor Stuart Denlegh-Maxwell (C)

Councillor Allah Ditta (C)
Councillor Louise Griffiths (G)
Councillor Stephen Hodgson (C)
Councillor Mike Johnson (C)
Councillor Matthew Lamb (L)

C = Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-Operative

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. Appointment of Substitutes To receive details of any Members 
appointed to attend the meeting instead of 
a Member of the Committee.

2. Declarations of Interest To receive any declarations of interest.

3. Public Participation To receive details of any Members 
appointed to attend the meeting instead of 
a Member of the Committee.

4. Public Space Protection Order 
Consultation (City Centre) 
Page(s): 1 - 8
Ward(s): Arboretum; Cathedral
Contact Officer: Alice Davey, Head 

of Community 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722311

1. That approval be granted to undertake 
an eight week public consultation on 
the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order (PSPO) for the City 
Centre (to commence on 15th February 
2019) in accordance with section 72 of 
the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014; and

2. That the results of the consultation 
exercise are reviewed and reported 
back to Communities Committee with 
recommendations for consideration.



4

5. Extension of the Single Person 
and Childless Couples Homeless 
Prevention Support Service 
(HoPES) and Recommissioning of 
New Service 
Page(s): 9 - 12
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Nina Warrington, 

Head of Strategic 
Housing
Tel: 01905 
722294

1. That Committee approve a 6 month 
extension (until September 30th 2019) 
to the existing Worcestershire Single 
Person and Childless Couples Homeless 
Prevention Support Service Contract at 
a cost of £85,472 to the Council; and

2. That Committee recommends to Policy 
& Resources Committee for the 6 
month extension of the contract 
outlined at para 1.1, to be funded from 
the Affordable Housing Bid Fund.

6. Universal Credit Hardship Fund 
Page(s): 13 - 22
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Shane Flynn, 

Corporate 
Director, Finance 
and Resources
Tel: 01905 
722536

1. That the Committee recommends to the 
Policy and Resources Committee that 
the purpose of the Exceptional Hardship 
Fund reserve be extended to:
i. include claims from Universal Credit 
claimants for support other than 
Council Tax Support
ii. provide an annual grant of £15,000 
p.a. to Worcester Food Bank for the 
three years 2019/20 to 2021/22; and

2. That the Committee recommends to the 
Policy and Resources Committee to 
delegate authority to the Corporate 
Director Finance and Resources to 
authorise payments from the 
Exceptional Hardship Fund in 
accordance with the proposals in the 
report.

7. Any Other Business Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.



Report to: Communities Committee, 4th February 2019

Report of: Corporate Director - Homes and Communities

Subject: PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER CONSULTATION (CITY CENTRE)

1. Recommendation

1.1 That approval be granted to undertake an eight week public consultation on 
the implementation of a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for the City 
Centre (to commence on 15th February 2019) in accordance with section 72 
of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014; and

1.2 That the results of the consultation exercise are reviewed and reported back 
to Communities Committee with recommendations for consideration.

2. Background

2.1 This report seeks approval from the Council’s Communities Committee to consult on 
a proposal to implement a PSPO covering the City Centre, the focus of which will be 
the following issues – 

 Urinating & Defecating in a Public Place
 Feeding Birds – specific birds e.g. seagulls; to exclude swans
 Aggressive Begging – please note NOT rough sleeping
 People under the  Influence of Drugs & Legal Highs
 Skateboarding/Cycling/Scooters etc

2.2 The Council has recently implemented a PSPO for the control of dogs across the City 
and a separate PSPO relating to anti-social behaviour relating to alcohol in restricted 
areas of the City.  This report considers the potential for the introduction of a further 
PSPO to cover the city centre in order to address those issues outlined in para 2.1.

2.3 Public Space Protection Orders are designed to make public spaces more welcoming 
for use and enjoyment and not simply restrict access.  When considering whether to 
implement a PSPO Councils are required to undertake necessary consultation with 
members of the public, partner agencies such as Police and Crime Commissioner and 
any particular community groups as deemed appropriate for the proposals.

2.4 There needs to be an evidential basis for implementing a PSPO and in arriving at this 
report crime statistics have been analysed in collaboration with Police colleagues 
spanning the period July 2017 to August 2018 and this identified the most reported 
and recorded markers of ASB reports as follows:

 152 refer to anti social behaviour
 215 refer to alcohol
 25 refer to cycles and motorcycles
 146 refer to drugs

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 144 relate to fighting
 164 relate to shouting 
 5 refer to spitting
 39 refer to urinating and defecating
 32 are marked as vehicle related
 103 reports mention begging
 200 refer to homelessness

2.5 The Council’s own environmental enforcement data and complaints data was also 
reviewed and discussed alongside the ASB data with key partners at an initial 
workshop held on 12th November 2018.  The partners in attendance included Police, 
local charities including St Paul’s and Maggs, Warwickshire and West Mercia 
Community Rehabilitation Company, Fortis Living and Worcester BID

2.6 A broad range of areas for inclusion in a draft PSPO were discussed with partners at 
the workshop and a decision has been taken not to include some of these as part of 
a draft PSPO. Such examples included spitting, graffiti, chuggers and leaving 
belongings unattended.

2.7    The issues to be included within a proposed draft PSPO, following the initial workshop
         with partners are outlined below:

Issue Rationale
Urinating & defecating The PSPO would allow evidence to be gathered for action against 

individuals such as Civil Injunctions and Criminal Behaviour Orders 
with a view to preventing persistent offender entering the town 
centre

Feeding birds The PSPO would have to be worded correctly
It is believed a PSPO would act as a deterrent to people

Aggressive Begging
Sitting for the
purposes of
begging

CPS will not prosecute begging even though it is a criminal offence
The PSPO on its own would not solve this problem but it would allow 
evidence to be gathered for action against individuals such as Civil 
Injunctions and Criminal Behaviour
Orders with a view to preventing them entering the City centre
Note this is not referring to Rough Sleeping

People under the
influence of drugs
and legal highs

We need to be clear that this is not seeking to tackle those taking 
drugs or legal highs as it is unlikely that they can be caught ‘in the 
act’ but if worded to tackle the anti-social behaviour that comes from 
being intoxicated through drugs then the PSPO on its own would not 
solve this problem but it would allow evidence to be gathered for 
action against individuals such as Civil Injunctions and Criminal 
Behaviour Orders with a view to preventing them entering the City 
centre

Skateboarding / cycling / 
scooters / segways

The PSPO may be in place to cover restricted peak times of 
pedestrian use and for major event days/times, and would allow 
evidence to be gathered for action against individuals such as Civil 
Injunctions and Criminal Behaviour Orders with a view to preventing 
persistent offender entering the City centre 
The existing Traffic Regulation Order relating to this issue is 
acknowledged.

Page 2



2.8 The maximum duration of a PSPO is three years, but they can be reviewed and 
ceased before that time where deemed appropriate.  Prior to its expiry the Order 
may be extended, for a further period of not more than three years, if the order 
making authority is satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that doing so is necessary to 
prevent occurrence or reoccurrence of the activities identified in the Order.  A PSPO 
may be extended more than once.

2.9 A PSPO is enforceable and it is an offence not to comply with a PSPO. A person 
guilty of an offence is liable to a fixed penalty notice (FPN) of £70.00 payable within 
a prescribed period.

2.10 Overall there has been an  increase in the number of fines issued under Public 
Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) between 2016 and 2017, Councils in England and 
Wales issued at least 8,638 such fines in 2017, up from 1,004 in 2016. The number 
of PSPOs implemented was also up, from 519 in 2016 to 960 in 2017. 

2.11 A number of other Local Authorities have implemented PSPOs of a similar nature for 
City Centre areas and these are summarised below: 

Authority Approach Includes
Oxford City Council
2015

PSPO includes:
Aggressive begging
Urination / defecation
Remaining in a public toilet without reasonable excuse
Cycling in 2 streets outside  6pm – 10am
Pedlar restrictions - numerous
Street entertainment that causes a nuisance to nearby premises or 
public

York City Council
2017 (in main)

PSPO:
Alcohol restrictions, with some restrictions in a few areas for dogs 
and motorised bikes

Chesterfield Council
2017

PSPO:
Loitering around cash machines, shopping centre entrances, shop 
entrances, car park ticket machines and payment machines to beg 
for money
Urinating or defecating anywhere that is not in a public toilet
Putting up or using a tent or other temporary structure without the 
landowners permission
Leaving belongings unattended
Drinking alcohol in the streets or public spaces
Activity or behaviour which causes nuisance, alarm, harassment or 
distress to another person, such as swearing, fighting, shouting, 
intimidating behaviour

2.12 It is appropriate to bring to Members attention that some Local Authorities following 
a PSPO consultation, have withdrawn elements of proposals relating to rough 
sleeping and begging as the inclusion of these behaviours have been strongly 
considered as negative and damaging to the homeless community, many of whom 
are the most vulnerable in our society. It is therefore essential that a City-wide 
proportionate, non-punitive partnership approach is taken and subject to approval 
this would be communicated as part of the consultation process communications.

2.13 In respect of the proposals relating to aggressive begging, the proposed PSPO 
would be an additional intervention tool as part of a wider suite of interventions 
aimed at trying to reduce the negative behaviours connected with such activity, 
where all attempts at engagement and behaviour change have been exhausted. 

Page 3



Members will be aware that there are several reactive and outreach support 
services available to bring about such change covering drug and alcohol 
interventions, housing support tenancy & benefits advice and financial management 
support.  

2.14 If a PSPO were to be implemented then it would sit alongside this wider range of 
measures and be very much a last resort and fundamentally a deterrent for those 
who may for example not be genuinely rough sleeping.  It will be critical that 
information is effectively shared between agencies so that vulnerable individuals who 
are receiving support or engaging with support services are not unreasonably 
targeted. 

2.15 Enforcement of the proposed PSPO would take a staged approach with individuals 
being provided with an opportunity to modify their behaviour on 2 occasions before a 
FPN is considered and issued, if deemed appropriate. In those cases where it is not 
deemed appropriate options such as Community Protection Warnings, Community 
Protection Notices, Dispersal Orders, Criminal Behaviour Orders, and Community 
Triggers may be more appropriate and would be discussed with relevant agencies 
and support services.

2.16 A workshop as previously referred to has been held with key partners to discuss a 
sensitive and pragmatic approach to utilising a PSPO and this dialogue will continue 
subject to approval.  

 
2.17 Consultation in respect of a PSPO, which the report seeks approval for, is proposed 

to consist of an online questionnaire, hard copy availability at key locations and on 
request, and an opportunity to attend a meeting(s), that will seek feedback on the 
following – 

 Comments on the type of issues included and not included for inclusion
 Comments on the proposed geographic area of boundary of the PSPO 
 Comments on a draft copy of the PSPO 

2.18 The consultation will be underpinned by a communications campaign that will raise 
awareness of the consultation and the Council’s proposed approach to the PSPO 
pushed out across all media channels.

2.19 A broad range of areas for inclusion in any potential PSPO have been considered 
with partners and are not being progressed to consultation at present, these 
include but are not limited to: spitting, graffiti and chuggers.  

3. Preferred Option 

3.1 The preferred option is to progress to consultation in relation to the areas outlined in 
section 2.7 of this report.

4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 Alternative options considered include not to progress to consultation in relation to a 
City Centre PSPO. This has not been recommended as the potential for support from 
both statutory and other partners including those in the voluntary sector was clear at 
the workshop held in late 2018.

Page 4



5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
There are no financial implications for the consultation exercise which will be met 
from within existing resources.  

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications
Subject to approval, the consultation would be undertaken having regard to the Anti-
social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and associated PSPO Guidance.

5.3 Risk Implications
PSPOs and in particular those that contain measures to tackle issues perceived to be 
associated with rough sleeping can draw negative media attention. Subject to 
approval, a communications campaign will be developed around the consultation that 
makes clear the Council’s rationale for wanting to consult on such a PSPO and what 
its approach would be to enforcing it.

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None arising as a direct result of this report.

5.5 Equality Implications
None arising as a direct result of this report. 

5.6 Human Resources Implications
None arising directly as a result of this report.

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
None arising directly as a result of this report.

5.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
None arising directly as a result of this report.

Ward(s): Cathedral and Arboretum wards
Contact Officer: Contact Alice Davey - Tel: 01905  722311 Email: 

alice.davey@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: None 

Page 5

mailto:Contact%20Alice%20Davey%20-%20Tel:%2001905%20%20722311%20Email:%20alice.davey@worcester.gov.uk%20
mailto:Contact%20Alice%20Davey%20-%20Tel:%2001905%20%20722311%20Email:%20alice.davey@worcester.gov.uk%20


Proposed City Centre PSPO Area for Consultation

P
age 6



Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Communities Committee, 4th February 2019

Report of: Corporate Director - Homes and Communities  

Subject: EXTENSION OF THE SINGLE PERSON AND CHILDLESS COUPLES 
HOMELESS PREVENTION SUPPORT SERVICE (HOPES) AND 
RECOMMISSIONING OF NEW SERVICE

1. Recommendation

1.1 That Committee approve a 6 month extension (until September 30th 2019) 
to the existing Worcestershire Single Person and Childless Couples 
Homeless Prevention Support Service Contract at a cost of £85,472 to the 
Council; and

1.2 That Committee recommends to Policy & Resources Committee for the 6 
month extension of the contract outlined at para 1.1, to be funded from the 
Affordable Housing Bid Fund.

2. Background

2.1 The Single Person and Childless Couples Homeless Prevention Support Service is a 
Countywide Service which Worcester City Council commissioned in partnership with 
each of the Local Housing Authorities (LHA) across the Worcestershire, and 
commenced in April 2016 for a period of 3 years.  

2.2 It has to date been wholly funded by Worcestershire County Council via a Public 
Health Ring Fenced Grant allocation paid to and administered by Worcester City 
Council as Lead Authority for the contractual purposes. It has recently been 
confirmed (December 2018) however that such funding will be reduced from 
£300,000 to £100,000 per annum for a 2 year period so procurement of a new 
contract will require funding contributions from LHA’s across Worcestershire. 

2.3 It is important to recognise that although the Council act as Lead Authority for 
contractual purposes the area of work in and around preventing homelessness and 
tackling rough sleeping is collaboratively delivered by several agencies (public, 
support providers and charitable) across Worcestershire and is a shared 
responsibility represented by forums such as the Worcestershire Strategic Housing 
Partnership and the local homelessness forums.

2.4 The existing contract consists of the following elements which the report will expand 
on in slightly more detail below – 

 The HoPES Service 
 Worcestershire No Second Night Out Protocol (NSNO)
 Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP)

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2.5 The HoPES service aims to prevent entrenched homelessness and provides support 
to new rough sleepers who have been placed in NSNO accommodation to find an 
alternative and more appropriate housing solution. 

2.6 The ‘NSNO’ Protocol established an agreed approach to ensuring new rough sleepers 
did not spend more than a single night on the streets by providing emergency 
accommodation.  In addition rough sleepers from another area or country can be 
reconnected back to their local community, unless there is a good reason why they 
cannot return.  

2.7 Local Authorities across Worcestershire aim to ensure that vulnerable people are 
protected during periods of severe cold weather by providing a safe and warm place 
of shelter. SWEP is activated if it is predicted to be zero degrees Celsius or below on 
any one night within Worcestershire. The primary aim of SWEP emergency provision 
is to prevent the loss of life or risk of serious harm as a result of cold weather. 

2.8 This report seeks approval for a 6 month extension of the current contract so that a 
draft specification can be developed and tendered through full and proper 
collaboration with key partners and with full knowledge of budget availability across 
LHA’s in Worcestershire.

2.9 The proposed extension would enable a comprehensive consultation process to be 
carried out with agencies across the county regarding both the needs of a new 
service but more importantly the outcomes we desire.  

2.10 Such an extension would also enable a proper and comprehensive mobilisation and 
transition to be undertaken so there is continuity in support for some of our most 
vulnerable individuals.

2.11 Requirements for a future service will be informed from agencies experience of the 
current contract being delivered, findings from the independent review into the 
current HoPES service and a better understanding of both the level and type of 
demand that has been generated as a result of The Homelessness Reduction Act 
2016.  

2.12 Any new service will be commissioned in partnership with LHA’s across 
Worcestershire utilising this knowledge.  It will also be essential for any  draft service 
specification to be widely circulated across partner agencies for consensus prior to a 
formal tendering process being undertaken 

2.13 This piece of work will be led by the Head of Housing and Communities from 
Wychavon and Malvern Hills District Council and will be supported by the jointly 
funded Worcestershire Strategic Housing Partnership Officer and the Worcester City 
Single Homeless Pathways Officer.  

2.14 £15,000 of the original allocation of £300,000 was also used to fund an access to 
private rented sector scheme delivered locally by each of the housing teams and 
which provides a supply of private rented property solutions for single and childless 
couples threatened with becoming homeless.  Within Worcester this allocation of 
funding, matched by £15,000 of the Council’s own money has been provided to the 
Citizens Advice Bureau / Worcester Housing & Benefits Advice Centre to deliver such 
a service via its Smart Let Scheme.  

Page 10



2.15 A funding bid of £30,000 has been made to the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government to cover this gap in funding for a 12 month period initially and 
although this submission has been received positively there is a risk to the ongoing 
provision of this service if funding is not received. 

3 Preferred Option 

3.1 To extend the existing contract for a period of 6 months until the 30th September 
2019 enabling the council and its partner agencies to properly develop, consult and 
procure a new contract which is effective and compliments other and existing 
services across Worcestershire and in particular Worcester City.

4 Alternative Options Considered

4.1 To extend the contract for 3 months – This timeframe is deemed to be insufficient to 
allow for proper and meaningful consultation and to carry out a full tendering 
exercise which will allow for an efficient and effective transition and handover period.

5 Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications

The full cost of a 6 month contract extension stands at £120,000 with the financial 
contribution of Worcester City Council proportioned to £85,472. Funding 
contributions across all financially contributing LHA’s are included in the table below 
with the Council’s contribution highlighted in blue.

BDC MHDC RBC WCC WDC WFDC Total

Total Cases (Demand) 
01/04/2016 – 
31/03/2018

18 77 14 933 119 149 1310

% of total cases 1.38% 5.88% 1.06% 71.23% 9.08% 11.37% 100%

6 month Contribution 1648.86 7053.44 1282.44 85,471.64 10,900.76 13648.86 120,000

Subject to approval the Council’s contribution would be funded from the existing 
Affordable Housing NHB Earmarked Reserve. This reserve balance currently stands 
at £820k of which £300k has been committed for use.

If the bid for funding from the MHCLG is not successful to cover the £30,000 this will 
result in a budget pressure and the reduction of a service providing housing solutions 
to single and childless couples.

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications

Subject to approval, extension of the existing contract and procurement of a new 
contract will be undertaken in line with council policy and procurement rules with 
support from the council’s legal and procurement officers.

Page 11



5.3 Risk Implications

Not having a sufficient period of time in which to develop and procure a new contract 
would risk impacting some of the City’s most vulnerable individuals who are 
presently rough sleeping but also those households who are at risk of becoming 
homeless. To mitigate such risk this report seeks a 6 month extension period. 

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications

The service supports the delivery of the Worcestershire Homelessness Strategy and 
the legislative requirements of the HRA. 

5.5 Equality Implications

None identified in this report. 

5.6 Human Resources Implications

None identified in this report. 

5.7 Health and Safety Implications

None identified in this report. 

5.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications

The extension of this contract will provide the existing provider and any future 
provider with a period of time to ensure that there is a successful transition period 
that does not adversely impact on service users circumstances.

Ward(s): All Wards 
Contact Officer: Nina Warrington Tel (01905) 722 494  Email 

nina.warrington@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: None  

Page 12

mailto:nina.warrington@worcester.gov.uk


Report to: Communities Committee, 4th February 2019

Report of: Corporate Director - Finance and Resources

Subject: UNIVERSAL CREDIT HARDSHIP FUND

1. Recommendations
 

1.1 That the Committee recommends to the Policy and Resources Committee 
that the purpose of the Exceptional Hardship Fund reserve be extended to:

i. include claims from Universal Credit claimants for support other than 
Council Tax Support

ii. provide an annual grant of £15,000 p.a. to Worcester Food Bank for the 
three years 2019/20 to 2021/22; and

1.2 That the Committee recommends to the Policy and Resources Committee to 
delegate authority to the Corporate Director Finance and Resources to 
authorise payments from the Exceptional Hardship Fund in accordance with 
the proposals in the report. 

2. Background

2.1 Universal Credit (UC) is the government’s welfare scheme which aims to simplify the 
benefits system for working age people by bringing together out of work and in work 
benefits, improve the transition to employment and make work pay by removing 
disincentives to work.

2.2 Full Service Universal Credit was introduced to new claimants in Worcester in 
October 2018. The number of registered claimants is not currently known. 
Discussions are taking place with local officers of the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) regarding information that can be provided regularly to the Council 
to help monitor the progress of UC but the Council has been advised that this 
information is not currently publicly available.

2.3 The impact of the introduction of UC, alongside a range of other welfare reforms, is 
difficult to monitor due to its complexity and the fact that individuals will have very 
different experiences based on their circumstances. However a number of studies 
have highlighted possible implications for vulnerable residents in particular, who 
have barriers to employment, and who could be at risk of greater poverty and 
housing instability.

2.4 Working with Civica, the provider of the South Worcestershire Revenues and Benefits 
partnership service, a range of communication activities have taken place with 
residents, staff and partners to ensure that people affected are prepared and know 
where to access support. This is supported by work underway within the Council 

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



around employment and skills, including initiatives to support long-term unemployed 
into work.

2.5 At the Council meeting of 30 October 2018 a motion was agreed as follows:

Worcester City Council is concerned that the roll out of Full Service Universal Credit 
in Worcester will cause hardship to many families and vulnerable individuals in the 
city. Council notes with concern that where Full Service Universal Credit has already 
been introduced, foodbank use has increased by 50%, rent arrears have spiralled 
and many have fallen into debt. Council further notes that as many as 6,600 local 
families, including 11,300 children, will be affected by the roll out of Universal Credit 
in Worcester.

 In order to address the financial hardship these families and vulnerable individuals 
may experience as a result of being put onto Universal Credit, Council directs officers 
to report back to the next available Communities Committee with:

1. Initiatives that should include setting up a Universal Credit Hardship Fund of up 
to £50,000 to help with the immediate, short-term needs of vulnerable 
households who are experiencing a crisis or exceptional financial pressure as a 
direct result of their transition to Universal Credit;

2. Agreed guidance and procedures for the administration of such a Universal Credit 
Hardship Fund that enables applications to be assessed and authorised and funds 
made available within three days, and 

3. A plan to monitor the impact of the roll out of Universal Credit in Worcester 
through regular monitoring reports to Communities Committee, drawing on 
evidence from DWP and partner organisations, including voluntary sector and 
charitable organisations.

2.6 This report to the Communities Committee sets out the proposed arrangements to 
comply with this Motion.

3. Universal Credit payments

3.1 Universal Credit replaces six means tested benefits and tax credits known as the 
legacy benefits which include:

 Income-based Jobseekers Allowance
 Income-related Employment and Support Allowance
 Income Support
 Child Tax Credit
 Working Tax Credit
 Housing Benefit (unless living in ‘specified accommodation’; or where there are 

three or more children in the household) 

3.2 Universal Credit is claimed by those on low to moderate income, whether in work, or 
out of work because they are seeking work, caring, or too ill to work. Universal 
Credit consists of a core ‘personal allowance’ plus additional payments depending on 
the claimant’s situation e.g. housing cost allowance, extra allowance for children, or 
disability allowance. The monthly payments automatically adjust to income from 
employment, since ‘real time’ income information is taken from HMRC.

Page 14



3.3 The default approach to UC payment is:

 The claimant will receive one payment each month into their nominated bank or 
credit union account and will be expected to manage this amount themselves, 
including rent payments to their landlord

 Claims are paid as one payment to a single nominated account for the household, 
rather than to individuals within the household. There is a 5-6 week window 
between the date of the claim and the first payment. The first seven days of this 
window are not allowed for as these are an information gathering stage and there 
is no back-dating of claims.

3.4 A claim for UC is made online and the ongoing management of the claim is via a 
digital portal. Therefore claimants will be required to have a certain level of digital 
skills. They will also require a bank or credit union account, email address and photo 
ID (or verification of their identity via an interview with their Jobcentre Plus work 
coach) to complete their claim. 

3.5 If a claimant moves into full time employment and no longer receives any UC 
payments, they remain a UC claimant for six months. However if their employment 
income falls again during this period they need to update their online UC claim. Their 
UC claim does not automatically start paying again. 

3.6 A few groups remain exempt from UC and will continue to claim the legacy benefits 
until further notice. This includes pensioners, people living in certain types of 
Supported Housing and families with more than two children. However the 
Government has recently announced changes to the system including:

 Bringing families with three or more children into the UC regime
 Those with severe disability premium remaining as HB claimants.

3.7 The Government has also recently announced that the start of the full roll out of 
Universal Credit will be delayed. This means that the system will be open to new 
claimants only, although the intention is that transfers from legacy claims will still be 
complete by 2023. A pilot of the roll out will be undertaken in July 2019, which will 
involve the transfer of 10,000 existing claimants.

4. Existing support for claimants

Personal Budgeting Support and Assisted Digital Support

4.1 DWP have provided Local Authorities with small amounts of funding to commission 
Personal Budgeting Support (PBS) and Assisted Digital Support (ADS) for UC 
claimants. Worcester City Council has received approximately £3,000 to help with 
PBS, while Civica has received approximately £8,000 to cover changes in the 
benefits administration system as well as digital support. 

4.2 PBS helps claimants to manage their monthly benefits. ADS provides support with 
new online claims for UC and is intended to ensure that the claimant has the digital 
skills to maintain their claim on the digital portal. In Worcester, PBS has begun to be 
delivered by Housing Staff based at the Hive and ADS is provided by Civica staff also 
based there. However, in November, the Government announced that PBS and ADS 

Page 15



will be provided by Citizens Advice from April 2019 and Local Authorities will no 
longer be funded for this work.

4.3 It is essential that UC claimants have access to these forms of support. In addition to 
face-to-face and telephone contacts , signposting to support is available through a 
portal on the Council’s website at: https://www.worcester.gov.uk/universal-credit

4.4 Latest information on access to this support is provided in Table 1. As yet, a 
relatively small number of claimants have sought this support.

Table 1: PBS and ADS delivered as at 1 January 2019

Oct 
2018

Nov 
2018

Dec 
2018

Total Universal Credit Claims made TBC TBC TBC

Total Universal Credit Claims made where 
claimant received full Advance payment 

TBC TBC TBC

PBS Referrals Received 0 0 0

PBS Referrals – Completed 0 0 0

PBS - no shows 0 0 0

Completed ADS (Assisted Digital Support) 
appointments  - where Hive staff  have 
supported customers to apply for UC online and 
set up email addresses.

9 18 6

No show ADS appointments 3 5 0

Signposting, advice or guidance for UC - 
Where Hive staff have provided  

7 7 2

Advance and Direct Payments

4.5 Advance payments (loans) are available via the Jobcentre Plus Work Coach if 
claimants need assistance in the initial 5 to 6 week period between making a claim 
and receiving the first payment. This advance payment is deducted from subsequent 
UC payments until it is fully recovered. In November the Chancellor announced that 
from October 2019 the maximum deduction from any monthly amount would be 
reduced from 40% to 30% of the standard allowance. From October 2021 the period 
over which advance payments can be recovered will be extended from 12 to 16 
months.

4.6 Latest information provided by the DWP (to June 2017) is that 48% of UC claimants 
are applying for and receiving advance payments for new claims, changes of 
circumstances and transfers from HB.

4.7 The DWP has discretion to alter the payment arrangements for claimants who are 
deemed to be vulnerable, for example those suffering from domestic violence or 
those who have alcohol/ drug dependency. This is discussed with the Jobcentre Plus 
work coach handling the claim. Registered Housing Providers also have the power to 
request alternative payment arrangements for their tenants, for example those with 
substantial rent arrears or those considered vulnerable. For claimants who are 
considered never able to manage their claim digitally, the claimant or a 

Page 16

https://www.worcester.gov.uk/universal-credit


representative needs to visit a Jobcentre Plus office to make alternative 
arrangements.

Discretionary Housing Payments and DWAS

4.8 Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) are made available by the City Council for 
Housing Benefit and UC claimants who have housing costs included in their UC 
payment. Claims may be considered by the Council’s Revenues and Benefits Service 
where a UC claimant is struggling to pay their rent and requires temporary 
assistance. There is a detailed assessment process for accessing this support.

4.9 The government provides councils with a grant amount up to an agreed threshold to 
meet DHP costs and any money not spent in the year to which it relates is returned 
to government as unspent. The Council is able to fund above this amount but this is 
funded from the Council’s budget.

4.10 Although housing costs are included within the UC award, those residents requesting 
additional discretionary support are still directed to the Council’s DHP scheme. There 
is an increasing burden on the scheme. The Table 2 shows current year spend to 
date and previous years’ award information as background.

Table 2: DHP awards made and costs against Government contribution

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
(to date)

Government 
contribution

£148,985 £167,738 £220,893 £199,356

Total 
expenditure

£135,048 £164,706 £204,317 £141,688 
paid/committed 

to date 
(31/12/18)

Under/(over) 
spend

£13,937 £3,032 £16,576 £57,668

Total awards 449 500 590 403  to date

4.11 The Council continues to operate a Discretionary Welfare Assistance Scheme 
(DWAS), which will provide assistance in the form of goods or vouchers, including 
food vouchers, to help individuals or families facing exceptionally difficult 
circumstances or an emergency. This is currently administered by the Revenues and 
Benefits Service with support from the Housing team at the Hive. This has an annual 
budget of £145k including £30k staff costs for operating the scheme.

Council Tax Support

4.12 UC claimants can also obtain help with Council Tax through the Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme (LCTSS). For Housing Benefit claimants, applications for Council Tax 
Support (CTS) are considered automatically. However, UC claimants must make a 
separate application for CTS. The CTS award made to each claimant is based on 
expected income. As the UC is updated every month, this also requires the CTS 
award to be reviewed every month. To mitigate the increased administrative burden 
this presents, CTS claims are not revised where the change in UC results in a change 
in CTS of less than £4.68 per month unless this is a regular, onging change.  

Page 17



4.13 A separate Exceptional Hardship Fund (EFH) exists for CTS claimants who are facing 
particular financial difficulties and have Council Tax arrears which they are struggling 
to pay. This fund was established by a grant from the County Council which has been 
provided at £25,000 p.a. There is no guarantee that the County Council will continue 
to make a contribution to this fund. Unspent grant is placed into a reserve which has 
a balance as at December 2018 of £77,278.

4.14 Following a Motion at Council approved on 20 February 2018, the Council can also 
uses this hardship fund to reduce Council Tax for CTS claimants leaving care to zero 
until their 21st birthday and to provide transitional support until they reach the age of 
25.

4.15 The requests for EHF support are received from the Revenues and Benefits service or 
other support agencies such as Citizen’s Advice from time to time and are passed to 
Worcester City Finance officers for consideration. Each case is considered on its own 
merits. A simple form is used to obtain details as to why the exceptional hardship 
has arisen and what steps the claimant has taken to mitigate these circumstances. 
Approximately one referral is received each month. The awards amount to 
approximately £2,000 per annum.

4.16 The primary condition for accessing support from the fund is that the claimant is 
already in receipt of Council Tax Support and is applying for additional Council Tax 
relief, either in the form of current year payments due or prior year debt. Removing 
this requirement would enable the support to be extended to those who do not have 
a housing cost component in their UC claim or who do not have Council Tax 
payments due. 

Food banks

4.17 For those in immediate need referrals can be made to local food banks. Data 
available for the Worcester food bank shows that, for the year to 30 November 2018, 
there were 3,086 vouchers issued, supporting 6,341 people (individuals and 
families). 

4.18 There is no limit on the number of times that individuals can access food banks but 
the organisations retain details of the claimants and engage appropriately if it is 
clear that there is an ongoing issue with financial or lifestyle management. This can 
be in the form of providing budgeting and money management advice or referral on 
to other support mechanisms. The aim is to help ensure that households can manage 
without the food bank becoming a regular form of support. 

4.19 An alternative to establishing a hardship fund may be to provide financial assistance 
to the food bank as a front-line agent, acting on the Council’s behalf, to help those 
facing challenges arising from the transition to Universal Credit. Discussions with 
Worcester Food Bank have indicated that currently there is a revenue shortfall of 
approximately £15,000 p.a. between the maintenance costs of the facility and the 
regular income that they receive from donations. 

Page 18



5. Preferred Option 

5.1 It is proposed that the existing Exceptional Hardship Fund is extended to support 
Universal Credit claimants where a further Council Tax Support claim is not the main 
criteria for application and that the existing approach is taken: that is by reviewing 
each case on its merits. This approach enables the award to be made within three 
days of receipt of the claim, subject to resources being available to process it. The 
level of resources needed to manage this process can not be estimated until the level 
of claims received is known but it is a minimal resource requirement under existing 
claim levels.

5.2 However, the claimant must have:

 applied to the DWP for an advance and have been refused or not awarded a 
sufficient advance to meet immediate needs

 applied for a Discretionary Housing Payment to meet any housing costs and be 
awaiting a determination of an award.

   
5.3 Civica will be notified of any payments made from the EHF and in the event that a 

Discretionary Housing Payment is subsequently paid, the EHF grant will be deducted 
from the DHP award. 

5.4 The use of the EHF will be monitored on a monthly basis and progress reported to 
the Communities Committee including notification of the balance remaining on the 
Fund at each of its meetings at which quarterly performance data is provided. 
Reports will also provide details of the roll out of Universal Credit in respect of 
Worcester City residents once these details are established in agreement with the 
DWP.

5.5 It is also proposed that Worcester Food Bank receive a grant of £15,000 p.a. over 
three years, in line with the revised grants policy to be considered by the 
Communities Committee at its meeting of 30 January 2019.  This is to be funded 
initially from the Hardship Fund, subject to agreement by the Policy and Resources 
Committee that the fund can be used for that purpose. 

6. Alternative Options Considered

6.1 That the criteria used for agreeing awards from the Discretionary Housing Payments 
scheme are used for the UC Hardship Grants. This is a detailed assessment of 
household income and expenditure. The awards may take up to 28 days to be 
agreed. The Motion at Council requires that the UC Hardship award is agreed within 
3 days of the application. Therefore a detailed assessment of this nature cannot be 
undertaken in the required timeframe.

6.2 That a separate fund is established. There is an existing fund which can be re-
purposed as recommended in the report. It is more expedient and efficient to use 
this fund and its associated claim process than to create a parallel one for the 
purposes if supporting hardship arising from UC claims specifically. 

6.3 In any event, an annual process of review is required to asses what level of top-up is 
needed and this will have to be considered as part of the annual budget-setting 
process.

Page 19



7. Implications

7.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
These are set out in the report. There are sufficient funds in the Exceptional Hardship 
Fund reserve to cover the commitments proposed, subject to the number of 
individual claims being in line with existing claim levels.

7.2 Legal and Governance Implications
The report proposes that existing mechanisms for providing support to those facing 
hardship are used, with the exception of extending the purpose of the existing 
Hardship Fund reserve. The Reserves Policy states that:

Where specific delegated authority to commit expenditure from a reserve has not 
been established, responsibility falls to the Policy and Resources Committee upon 
advice from the Section 151 Officer.

The extension of the Hardship Fund reserve for the purposes proposed in the report 
therefore needs approval of the Policy and Resources Committee.

7.3 Risk Implications
There are no specific risk implications arising from the report.

7.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
There are no specific policy implications arising from the report. The report proposes 
to use existing governance mechanisms to administer the grants proposed.

7.5 Equality Implications
There are no equality implications arising from the report. Application for award from 
the Hardship Fund and access to the food banks is open to all.
 

7.6 Human Resources Implications
The Hardship Fund is accessed via the Civica Revenues and Benefits Team and the 
Council’s Housing Team who make referrals to Finance Officers to agree whether the 
claim is eligible for grant. Changing the criteria should not add an additional burden 
as all claimants will have already followed existing pathways to support. However 
Finance Officers only assess whether the claim is eligible and do not make any 
judgements regarding the level of hardship suffered by claimants.

It is good practice, which is implemented at other authorities in the South 
Worcestershire Partnership, that the final approval of the claim is made by the 
Director of Finance. While this may create some delays in the system, it is proposed 
that this same approach is implemented at the City Council. This will provide clear 
accountability for the process. 

Close monitoring of the scheme will be required, if the proposed changes are 
accepted, to determine whether additional training or support is needed for staff 
making assessments regarding relative hardship of individual claimants. The results 
of this monitoring will need to be included in the performance monitoring regime 
proposed in the report.  

Page 20



7.7 Health and Safety Implications
There are no specific health and safety implications arising from the report as 
existing mechanisms will be used. These are already subject to health and safety 
considerations. However the concern regarding the increased involvement of Council 
staff in making judgements regarding relative hardship of claimants needs to be 
considered, as identified under Human Resources Implications

7.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
The potential implications of the introduction of Universal Credit are set out in the 
report. The Exceptional Hardship Hard is designed to support those who, for 
whatever reason, are facing difficulty in making their Council Tax obligations and the 
capacity to provide support with this is within the Council’s control. Extending this to 
mitigate other forms of hardship increases the Council’s capacity to provide support 
during a period of major transition within the benefits system.

The proposal to provide financial support to the food bank is a means of using 
existing support mechanisms more fully. The Worcester Food Bank has a strategic 
aim to close – that is, no one should be in a position of having to obtain food from a 
charitable source. However, the national organisation which supports the food banks 
– the Trussell Trust – has advised its organisers to prepare five year business plans. 

The Worcester Food Bank provides, manages and distributes about 75,000 meals a 
year to those in the City and surrounding area. This is forecast to rise to over 
100,000 meals during 2019 as the impact of Universal Credit filters through to client 
referrals. In 2018, 6,510 people were provided with food parcels including 2,243 
children. During 2019 this is forecast to rise by 50% based on experience elsewhere 
in the country and, in particular, the experience of Stratford-upon-Avon: the nearest 
comparable city. This suggests that client numbers will be heading towards 10,000 in 
2019.

Providing financial support to the food bank will increase the capacity of the centre to 
support clients and should help to reduce the likelihood of some of the most 
vulnerable members of Worcester’s communities falling into the levels of hardship 
that would require support from the Exceptional Hardship Fund.

Ward(s): All wards
Contact Officer: Shane Flynn, Corporate Director Finance and Resources. 

Tel: 01905 722536; email: shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: None 

Page 21

mailto:shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Public Space Protection Order Consultation (City Centre)
	5 Extension of the Single Person and Childless Couples Homeless Prevention Support Service (HoPES) and Recommissioning of New Service
	6 Universal Credit Hardship Fund

